ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Certiorari to Supreme Court County

DEC 12 2016

Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JONATHAN XAVIER MILLER,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000862

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

The Court of Appeals erred in upholding the propriety of a police search of petitioner's vehicle located on private property by relying on S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-20 because said statute allows for searches of vehicles found on public property (highways/roadways), but prohibits searches of vehicles located on private property.

STATEMENT

Petitioner Jonathan Xavier Miller was indicted for possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine, but found guilty of simple possession of crack cocaine per jury trial held during the August 2013 term of the Richland County General Sessions Court before Judge Doyet A. Early. Petitioner was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of nine years. Lucas Hawks and Jessamine Grice represented petitioner at trial, and Assistant Solicitors Brent Avant and Jennifer McKellar appeared on behalf of the state.

Petitioner appealed his trial court conviction and sentence, but his case was affirmed on appeal by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. See State v. Miller, Unpublished Opinion No. 2016-UP-040 (Ct. App. January 20, 2016). App. 1-3. A petition for rehearing was filed on February 4, 2016. On March 24, 2016, the petition for rehearing was denied. A petition for writ of certiorari for review of the Court of Appeals' decision in the case was filed on April 25, 2016, with the South Carolina Supreme Court and granted on October 20, 2016. This Brief of Petitioner follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in upholding the propriety of a police search of petitioner's vehicle located on private property by relying on S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-20 because said statute allows for searches of vehicles found on public property (highways/roadways), but prohibits searches of vehicles located on private property.

The state's case consisted of only three witnesses: Chemist Brenda Jenkins and Police Officers James Westbury and Shaun McDonald. At trial, Officer Westbury testified that he was responding to a theft call in the Rosewood section of Columbia, South Carolina, on January 10, 2013, when he received a neighborhood complaint regarding a particular vehicle that had large silver and green rims seen in the same neighborhood and how this vehicle was allegedly connected to drug sales in the area. Minutes later during a routine patrol of the area, Officer Westbury happened upon the vehicle in question at a nearby mini-mart and followed the vehicle until the driver pulled into and stopped in a private driveway in front of a private residence. Officer Westbury stated that he confronted the driver, i.e. petitioner, and arrested him after learning that he was driving under a suspended license. Westbury added that it was police policy to tow the vehicle after petitioner's arrest. R. 24 – R. 39, l. 21. R. 113, l. 22 – R. 123, l. 17.

Officer McDonald, who arrested Officer Westbury during this traffic stop, testified at trial verifying Officer Westbury's account of the events, and added that if a driver is arrested for DUS, then the proper protocol is to have the vehicle towed thereafter. R. 59, l. 12 – R. 66, l. 16. R. 142, l. 4 – R. 147, l. 7; R. 64, l. 4 – 9.

The events that transpired after petitioner's DUS arrest became the subject of the illegal search and seizure issue in the case. Officer Westbury summarized the events that occurred subsequent to petitioner's arrest as follows:

Q. Then what occurred next?

A. At that time I called for a tow of the vehicle.

Q. Why did you do that?

A. When the driver is arrested in a vehicle and it's obvious the individual is not the – the vehicle owner is not on the scene, the vehicle has to be towed. Due to that, we also have to do an inventory search of the vehicle which is where we go through the vehicle making sure there's no items in there that could be damaged or stolen, anything like that, while its being towed or stored. We have to do an inventory search of the vehicle. R. 123, l. 20 – R. 124, l. 5.

Prior to trial, defense counsel had moved to suppress the crack cocaine seized pursuant to the inventory search of the vehicle driven by petitioner before the vehicle was towed because police officers had no authority to do so per S.C. Code Ann § 56-5-2520 (1976), (which the state cited as authority in support of the inventory search and subsequent tow), because this code section¹ applied to vehicles left without drivers stranded **on highways only**, and did not grant any authority to tow vehicles under similar circumstances found on private property. R. 22 – R. 23, l. 19.

Officer Westbury stated that after petitioner was arrested for DUS on private property, an inventory search of the car was conducted and crack cocaine was found under the driver's seat, and that when petitioner stated the vehicle did not belong to him, the call for the tow was placed because the owner of the vehicle was not on the scene. R. 34, l. 3 – R. 35, l. 18; R. 78, l. 12 – 21; R. 56, l. 7 – 8; R. 59, l. 3- 6.

The Court inquired regarding the location of the vehicle as follows:

Examination by the Court

Q. Officer McDonald, the vehicle that you ultimately inventoried, where was it parked?

¹ §56-5-2520

A. It was parked in a driveway on Timberlane.

Q. Is a driveway party of the highway system?

A. No.

Q. What authority did you have to – what authority did you rely in removing it from the private driveway?

A. Like I said, sir, to my knowledge, it wasn't his residence, and I was trained from day one that is the person gets arrested and it's not their residence that the vehicle gets towed.

Q. So if it's out in the middle of a field, anywhere not on the highway, you still tow it?

A. Correct. R. 66, l. 19 – R. 67, l. 18.

Before and after the in camera hearing, Officers Westbury and McDonald gave their accounts of the events that led to petitioner's arrest and the towing of the vehicle, then defense counsel objected to the search on the ground that the statute (S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2520) which the state relied upon in support of the inventory search and tow did not give the officers the authority to tow and conduct the inventory search that followed because this code section referenced such authority only upon public highways as opposed to private highways. R. 75, l. 2 – R. 76. The state argued that the statute did not limit or exclude the authority to tow on public property only. R. 76, l. 18 – R. 77, l. 16. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2520 reads as follows:

(a) Whenever any police officer finds a vehicle in violation of any of the provisions of § 56-5-2510 he may move the vehicle or require the driver or the other person in charge of the vehicle to move it to a position off the roadway.

(b) Any police officer may remove or cause to be removed to a place of safety any unattended vehicle illegally left standing upon any **highway**, bridge, causeway or in any tunnel in such position or under such circumstances as to obstruct the normal movement of traffic.

(c) Any police officer may remove or cause to be removed to the nearest garage or other place of safety any vehicle found upon a **highway** when:

(1) A report has been made that the vehicle has been stolen or taken without the consent of its owner.

(2) The person in charge of the vehicle is unable to provide for its custody or removal.

The trial judge's preliminary ruling follows:

The Court: But the problem you've got with that it is it says highway. I mean, I see where its probably – they need rely on this statute and this statute says upon a highway, am I not limited to reading the statute and giving it it's ordinary reading? R. 82, lines 10 – 15.

Later, however, the trial judge denied the motion to suppress and ruled that the inventory search pursuant to the tow in question were both proper and allowed the admission of the crack cocaine found inside the car to be entered into evidence at trial based on S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-5635. R. 88, l. 1 – 7. R. 83, l. 14 – R. 84, l. 10. The defense argued that this was an erroneous statutory interpretation. R. 84, l. 11 – R. 87, l. 16.

S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-5635 reads as follows:

(A) Notwithstanding another provision of law, a law enforcement officer who directs that a vehicle be towed for any reason, whether on public or private property, must use the established towing procedure for his jurisdiction. A request by a law enforcement officer resulting from a law enforcement action including, but not limited to, a vehicle collision, vehicle breakdown, or vehicle recovery incident to an arrest, is considered a law enforcement towing for purposes of recovering costs associated with the towing and storage of the vehicle unless the request for towing is made by a law enforcement officer at the direct request of the owner or operator of the vehicle.

At the close of the state, petitioner renewed the motion to suppress the drugs based on an unlawful search. R. 163, lines 20 – 23. The court denied the motion. R. 163, lines 24 – 25.

On appeal, petitioner raised the following issue before the Court of Appeals:

The trial judge erred in denying the pre-trial motion to suppress the crack cocaine found under the seat of the vehicle driven by petitioner after the traffic stop because the seizure of the drugs that occurred during the inventory search prior to the towing of the vehicle constituted an illegal search and seizure as the vehicle was located on private property, which in turn meant that the actions taken by the police in this case were neither statutorily authorized under S.C. Code Ann §56-5-2520 nor allowed via an exception under S.C. Code Ann § 56-6-5635.

The Court of Appeals affirmed and ruled as follows:

As to whether the trial court erred in denying Miller's pre-trial motion to suppress crack cocaine found during an inventory search of his vehicle: S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-5635(A) (2006) ("Notwithstanding another provision of law, a law enforcement officer who directs that a vehicle be towed for any reason, whether on public or private property, must use the established towing procedure for his jurisdiction. A request by a law enforcement officer resulting from a law enforcement action, including...vehicle recovery incident to an arrest, is considered a law enforcement towing...."). App. 2.

This case boiled down to a statutory interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. 56-5-2520 and 56-5-5635, and whether the officers erred in towing the vehicle petitioner drove from its location on private property and in conducting the inventory search that occurred as a result of the decision to tow, since this ultimately led to the discovery of crack inside the vehicle. As a rule, the words of a statute are to be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. State v. Manning, 2014 WL 1805319 (May 7, 2014 S.C. App), citing to State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339 688 S.E.2d 564 (2010). Here, the statute in question (56-5-2520) only allows police to tow or "remove" a vehicle off a road way for whatever reason if the vehicle is found "upon a **highway**." At the time of his arrest, petitioner had already parked the vehicle on a private driveway. Therefore, since the vehicle petitioner drove prior

to his arrest was not parked on a highway, which is public, then the towing of the vehicle and the inventory search that was conducted prior to the towing were illegal and statutorily unauthorized actions taken by police. Again, the vehicle petitioner had been driving at the time of the arrest was parked in a private roadway. The words of the statute clearly refer to circumstances that would warrant the removal of a vehicle from a public highway as opposed to a private highway. Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court had no right to expand or impose another meaning. State v. Manning, supra, citing to State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 713 S.E.2d 621 (2011). Nonetheless, the trial judge used S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-5635 (Cum. Supp. 2004), to justify the towing as proper and the admission of the crack cocaine seized via the inventory search that preceded the towing into evidence as proper as well. However, this statute² referred not to the authority to tow (and the accompanying inventory search prior to the tow), but rather to the proper procedure ("must use the established towing procedure") and the recovery of costs for towing a vehicle instead. To the contrary, this statute presupposes that an officer had the proper authority to tow and was previously authorized to tow any such vehicle. In other words, the proper towing procedure under S.C. Code Ann §56-5-5635, **would apply only after the threshold requirement to tow had been authorized** in the first place per S.C. Code Ann. § 5-56-2500.