ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 11 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Opinion No. 2016-UP-040 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 20, 2016)

Appellate Case No: 2016-000862

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

JONATHAN XAVIER MILLER, PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

BRENT H. ARANT
Assistant Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion to suppress the crack cocaine found during an inventory search of the car he was driving following his arrest where: (1) the issue was not preserved for appellate review; (2) the police had authority to tow the car under the plain and unambiguous terms of section 56-5-2520 of the Code; (3) the police also had authority to tow the car under the terms of section 56-5-5635 of the Code; and (4) regardless of specific statutory authorization, the inventory search was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances.

Petitioner argues this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals and direct a verdict of acquittal because the Court of Appeals erred in upholding the propriety of the police search of his vehicle located on private property, where section 56-5-20 of the Code allows for searches of vehicles found on public property but prohibits searches of vehicles located on private property. The State disagrees and submits the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion to suppress the inventory search of the car he was driving following his arrest for several reasons, including on grounds that: (1) the issue was not preserved for appellate review; (2) the police had authority to tow the car under the plain and unambiguous terms of section 56-5-2520 of the Code; (3) the police also had authority to tow the car under the terms of section 56-5-5635 of the Code; and (4) regardless of specific statutory authorization, the inventory search was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances. Indeed, the Court of Appeals decision was a straightforward exercise of applying the rules of issue preservation, relevant statutes, logic, and practical consideration of the particular facts and circumstances of Petitioner's case. Thus, the State submits the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion to suppress. The Court of Appeals and the trial court should be affirmed, and Petitioner's conviction should stand.

On appeal to the Court of Appeals, Petitioner argued the trial court erred in denying his pretrial motion to suppress the crack cocaine found under the driver's seat of the vehicle he was driving. He contended the inventory search conducted prior to the towing of the vehicle constituted an illegal search because the police had no authority to tow the vehicle under the terms of the South Carolina Code. The Court of Appeals rejected this claim with reference to: (1) section 56-5-5635(A) of the South Carolina Code; and (2) cases noting both that police officers may inventory impounded property without obtaining a warrant as long as they are following their standard procedure, and that there is no meaningful distinction between vehicles parked in public and private places.

Petitioner continues to advance essentially the same argument in his appeal to this court. The State submits Petitioner's argument is without merit and that the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the denial of Petitioner's motion to suppress the inventory search of the car he was driving for several reasons, including on grounds that: (1) the issue was not preserved for appellate review; (2) the police had authority to tow the car under the plain and unambiguous terms of section 56-5-2520 of the Code; (3) the police also had authority to tow the car under the terms of section 56-5-5635 of the Code; and (4) regardless of specific statutory authorization, the inventory search was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances. Because the trial court's ruling was supported by evidence in the record, Petitioner's conviction was properly affirmed.

Issue Not Preserved for Appeal

Initially, the State submits Petitioner's argument regarding the propriety of the inventory search is not preserved for appellate review because Petitioner failed to renew his pretrial objection when the State elicited testimony about that inventory search during trial. Generally, a motion in limine seeks a pretrial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially

prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary and subject to change based on developments during trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999). A ruling on a motion in limine does not constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Therefore, an objection must be made at the time the evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993).

Here, the State elicited detailed trial testimony from officers Westbury and McDonald regarding the inventory search. Each officer described the encounter with Petitioner that led to his arrest for DUS, the subsequent inventory search of the car, the discovery of the bag containing a white rock-like substance under the driver's seat, and the field test which showed the substance was crack cocaine. Petitioner did not object to any of this testimony. Although Petitioner eventually objected when the State sought to introduce the crack cocaine itself into evidence through the testimony of expert witness Brenda Jenkins, this objection was too late to sufficiently preserve his challenge to the inventory search for appellate review. Indeed, even if the trial court had sustained the objection and decided to exclude the drugs, the jury had already been presented with substantial evidence supporting its conclusion that Petitioner was guilty of possessing crack cocaine. He suffered no additional prejudice from admission of the drugs once the officers' testimony had been admitted without objection. For these reasons, Petitioner has failed to preserve this issue for appeal, and his conviction should be affirmed. In any event, Petitioner's argument is without merit because the CPD's decision to tow the vehicle was authorized by the terms of the South Carolina Code and was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 137, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012); State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and the appellate court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011). Thus, the admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the court's decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008).

Discussion

“Although automobiles are ‘effects’ within the reach of the Fourth Amendment, warrantless examinations of automobiles have been upheld in circumstances in which a search of a home or office would not.” South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 367 (1976). “In the interest of public safety and as part of what the Court has called ‘community caretaking functions,’ automobiles are frequently taken into police custody.” Id. at 368. “These caretaking procedures have almost uniformly been upheld by the state courts” and “the majority of the Federal Courts of Appeals have likewise sustained inventory procedures as reasonable police intrusions.” Id. at 369-71. Similarly, as recognized in Opperman: “The decisions of this Court point unmistakably to the conclusion reached by both federal and state courts that inventories pursuant to standard police procedures are reasonable.” Id. at 372. The Court went on to state: “In applying the reasonableness standard adopted by the Framers, this Court has consistently sustained police intrusions into automobiles impounded or otherwise in lawful police custody

where the process is aimed at securing or protecting the car and its contents.” Opperman, 428 U.S. at 373. Thus, conducting a routine inventory search of an automobile lawfully impounded by police clearly does not violate the Fourth Amendment when police are following standard police procedures. Id. at 376; See Colorado v. Bertine, 479 U.S. 367, 374 (1987) (“Reasonable police regulations relating to inventory procedures administered in good faith satisfy the Fourth Amendment, even though courts might as a matter of hindsight be able to devise equally reasonable rules requiring a different procedure.”); see also State v. Lemacks, 275 S.C. 181, 183, 268 S.E.2d 285, 286 (1980) (“Whether a routine inventory search of an automobile may lawfully extend to the locked trunk of the vehicle depends on the facts and circumstances of each case.”). Furthermore, an inventory search of a vehicle is not rendered unconstitutional simply because departmental regulations give the police officers discretion to choose betwixt impounding the vehicle or parking it in a public parking place, so long as that discretion is exercised according to standard criteria and on the basis of something other than suspicion of evidence of criminal activity. Bertine, 479 U.S. at 375.

Here, there is no claim that the CPD failed to follow standard police procedures for conducting the routine inventory search once they decided to tow the car. Indeed, the testimony supports the conclusion that the officers were merely following CPD policies and procedures for locating and securing any valuable personal property in the car prior to having it towed. Instead, Petitioner contends the decision to tow the vehicle was not lawful in the first place and that as a consequence the ensuing inventory search was unconstitutional. The State disagrees.

The South Carolina Code describes several circumstances by which police officers are authorized to remove (tow) vehicles. It provides in part that:

(c) Any police officer may remove or cause to be removed to the nearest garage or other place of safety **any vehicle found upon a highway** when:

....

- (3) **The person driving** or in control of the vehicle is **arrested** for an alleged offense for which the officer is required by law to take such person before a magistrate or other judicial officer without unnecessary delay.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2520(c) (2006) (emphasis added). The elementary and cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. Branch v. City of Myrtle Beach, 340 S.C. 405, 409, 532 S.E.2d 289, 292 (2000); State v. Prince, 335 S.C. 466, 472, 517 S.E.2d 229, 232 (Ct. App. 1999). A law must be interpreted reasonably and practically, consistent with the purpose and policy of the General Assembly. Prince, 335 S.C. at 472, 517 S.E.2d at 232; Hay v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 273 S.C. 269, 273, 255 S.E.2d 837, 840 (1979). The purpose of enactment always takes precedence over the language employed, and a court will not read into a statute something that is not within the manifest intention of the General Assembly. Abell v. Bell, 229 S.C. 1, 4, 91 S.E.2d 548, 549 (1956); Laird v. Nationwide Ins. Co., 243 S.C. 388, 395, 134 S.E.2d 206, 209 (1964). The Courts are permitted to look to existing circumstances at the time of enactment. Gaffney v. Mallory, 186 S.C. 337, 195 S.E. 840 (1938). Moreover, the meaning of a statute is not to be deemed to depend upon a single part or an isolated sentence. DeLoach v. Scheper, 188 S.C. 21, 198 S.E. 409, 414 (1938). Legislative intent must always be gathered from the statute as a whole, read in light of all circumstances. Crescent Mfg. Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 129 S.C. 490, 124 S.E. 761, 765 (1924). An absurd result not possibly intended by the Legislature will be rejected. Miller v. Aiken, 364 S.C. 303, 307, 613 S.E.2d 364, 366 (2005); Hamm v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 287 S.C. 180, 182, 336 S.E.2d 470 (1985). Thus, the true guide to statutory construction is not the phraseology of an isolated section or provision, but the language of the statute as a whole considered in light of its manifest purpose. City of Columbia v. Niagara Fire Ins. Co., 249 S.C. 388, 391, 154 S.E.2d 674,

676 (1967). Every technical rule as to construction of a statute is subservient to and must yield to the expression of the will of the legislature, since all rules of statutory construction have for their sole object the discovery of the legislative intent and are valuable only insofar as in their application they aid the interpreters in their endeavor to ascertain that intent. Id.

The State submits that under the plain and unambiguous terms of section 56-5-2520, the CPD had authority to tow the vehicle in question because: (1) Petitioner was driving the vehicle; (2) Petitioner was subsequently arrested for DUS; and (3) Officers Westbury and McDonald first “found” the vehicle upon a highway³ when they observed Petitioner driving it through the neighborhood before he parked in a driveway.⁴ The relevant subsection specifically describes the person who is ultimately arrested as one who is “driving or in control of the vehicle” when that vehicle is “found upon a highway”; therefore, it contemplates towing regardless of where that person eventually stops the car. So long as the person was initially found driving on a street or highway, the statute authorizes towing or removing the vehicle following arrest.

Petitioner argues that since the vehicle was parked in a private road or driveway at the time of his arrest, it was not “found upon a highway” for purposes of section 56-5-2520. However, this interpretation must be rejected because it is not reasonably and practically consistent with the likely purpose and policy of the legislature, and because it would lead to an absurd result the legislature could not possibly have intended. In the instant case, Petitioner stopped the vehicle of his own accord and was not the subject of a traffic stop. Nevertheless, the officers observed Petitioner driving the car on a highway before he stopped in the private

³ “The entire width between boundary lines of every way publicly maintained when any part thereof is open to the use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel is a ‘street’ or ‘highway.’” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-430 (2006).

⁴ “Every way or place in private ownership not used for vehicular travel by the owner and those having express or implied permission from the owner but not by other persons is a ‘private road’ or ‘driveway.’” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-450 (2006).

driveway. There are no doubt hundreds of examples across South Carolina each day of a police officer making a traffic stop of a single driver, where the car ends up parked in a driveway or on other private property at the time of an arrest. Under Petitioner's theory, the police would be prohibited from having any such vehicle towed simply because the driver happened to stop on private property. This would hold true regardless of whether the vehicle was blocking a private driveway, blocking a parking lot entrance, or located in any other place regardless of whether it had a right to remain. Such a result is absurd. The intent of the legislature appears to be to authorize officers to remove or tow a vehicle pursuant to the lawful arrest of the driver of that vehicle, regardless of where it parks. Here, that is precisely what the CPD did, and they did so only after determining Petitioner was not a resident of the house where the car was parked. Therefore, the motion to suppress was properly denied.

Furthermore, and as found by the trial court, the State submits the CPD was authorized to tow the vehicle under section 56-5-5635, notwithstanding the terms of section 56-5-2520, because the officers were conducting a vehicle recovery incident to arrest and had directed that the vehicle be towed from private property in compliance with CPD policy. The South Carolina Code provides:

Notwithstanding another provision of law, a law enforcement officer who directs that a vehicle be towed for any reason, whether on public or private property, must use the established towing procedure for his jurisdiction. A request by a law enforcement officer resulting from a law enforcement action, including but not limited to, a vehicle collision, vehicle breakdown, or vehicle recovery incident to arrest, is considered law enforcement towing for purposes of recovering costs associated with the towing and storage of the vehicle unless the request for towing is made by a law enforcement officer at the direct request of the owner or operator of the vehicle.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-5635(A) (2006) (emphasis added). The subsection in question authorizes a law enforcement officer to direct that a vehicle be towed for any reason, even from private

property, and the same subsection specifically contemplates such direction being given because the officer is making a “vehicle recovery incident to arrest.” The testimony established that the towing procedure for the city of Columbia requires towing of any vehicle if the driver is arrested and the vehicle is parked anywhere besides the driver’s residence. Thus, section 56-5-5635 provides an independent basis which authorized the CPD to tow the vehicle Petitioner was driving. Because the vehicle was being lawfully towed under either statute, the ensuing inventory search was appropriate and the trial court properly admitted the drugs discovered during the search.

Finally, there is no evidence to suggest the officers’ decision to tow and inventory the vehicle was based on the suspicion that they would find evidence of criminal activity. In fact, the testimony from both officers was simply that they were following what they understood to be CPD standard policies whenever a driver is arrested and the car is parked anywhere but the driver’s residence. Their intrusion into the car during the inventory search was clearly aimed at securing or protecting the car and its contents. Therefore, the inventory search was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances and was not unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment. Opperman, supra; Bertine, supra. Petitioner’s argument was properly denied, and his conviction was properly affirmed.

For these reasons, and all of the other reasons set forth above, Petitioner’s argument is without merit and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court’s denial of his motion to suppress. The Court of Appeals should be affirmed, and Petitioner’s conviction should stand.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming Petitioner's conviction and sentence.